
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS 

PINE BLUFF DIVISION 

FILED 
u_s [)IS J l~!Cf COURT 

EASTEf<N DIS "'1Cl lll<KANSAS 

JAN 1 9 2016 

JAMES' 
By: --"'-"~T"+W..J..l...__-:::-:-:-::-:--=-=-

ot.:P cLEHK 

ARKANSAS-LOUISIANA CONFERENCE 
OF SEVENTH-DAY ADVENTISTS; 
JOSIAH HILL; and ELISSA AMIE TESCH PLAINTIFFS 

v. 

CITY OF WHITE HALL, ARKANSAS DEFENDANT 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

Plaintiffs Arkansas-Louisiana Conference of Seventh-day Adventists, Josiah Hill and 

Elissa Amie Tesch, for their causes of action against Defendant, state as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The City of White Hall, Arkansas has enacted an ordinance that unconstitutionally 

restricts the protected right to exchange beliefs and religious principles within its city limits. The 

City impermissibly restricts all forms of door-to-door solicitation and the accompanying 

expression of ideas unless those wishing to engage in such religious, charitable or other such 

protected discourse first obtain a permit from the City, pay the required permit fees, disclose 

significant personal information and pass a "satisfactory" investigation and review. Moreover, 

even after the application is made, the Ordinance fails to contain any discernable standards or 

time frames for the issuance of a permit, and the decision whether to grant or deny a permit is 

wholly discretionary with a solitary City official, with no avenue for judicial review of this 

decision. The Ordinance also sets an arbitrary time period in which protected interactions may 

occur. Courts routinely have rejected similar governmental efforts that target and seek to impose 
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this kind of prior restraint on speech that is afforded the highest levels of protection by the First 

Amendment. For these reasons, Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that the Ordinance is 

unconstitutional both on its face and as applied to these Plaintiffs, injunctive relief barring the 

City from enforcing this Ordinance, and nominal damages. 

2. This action arises under the provisions of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to 

the United States Constitution pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the provisions of Article 2 of 

the Arkansas Constitution pursuant to the Arkansas Religious Freedom Restoration Act, Ark. 

Code Ann.§§ 16-123-401 to -407. 

THE PARTIES 

3. The Arkansas-Louisiana Conference of Seventh-day Adventists is an 

unincorporated religious membership organization with numerous members and churches 

located in the states of Arkansas and Louisiana and the City of Texarkana, Texas, including 

within Jefferson County, Arkansas. The Conference is part of the Southwestern Union of 

Seventh-day Adventists which is part of the General Conference of Seventh-day Adventists, and 

has been in existence for decades. 

4. As one of its evangelistic ministries, the Conference works in partnership with a 

Student Literature Evangelism Program with Ouachita Hills College. The College is an entity of 

Ouachita Ministries, Inc., which is a member of Adventist-laymen's Services and Industries 

(ASI), and is a supporting ministry of the Seventh-day Adventist Church. 

5. Josiah Hill is a resident and citizen of the State of Arkansas. He is the director of 

the Literature Evangelism Program for Ouachita Hills College. He is a member of the 

Arkadelphia Seventh-day Adventist Church in Arkadelphia Arkansas, which is a member of the 

-2-

Case 5:16-cv-00013-JM   Document 1   Filed 01/19/16   Page 2 of 40



Arkansas-Louisiana Conference of Seventh-day Adventists. At all times materials to this 

lawsuit, he participated in the Literature Evangelism Program as a Literature Evangelist. 

6. Elissa Amie Tesch is a resident and citizen of the State of Louisiana. She has 

participated in the Program for the past two years, and will participate in the 2016 Program 

scheduled for April 2016. She is a member of the Lafayette Seventh-day Adventist Church in 

Lafayette, Louisiana, which is a member of the Arkansas-Louisiana Conference of Seventh-day 

Adventists. At all times materials to this lawsuit, she participated in the Program is a Literature 

Evangelist. 

7. The Program has scheduled, planned, and made the necessary preparations for, 

engaging in protected speech within the city limits of the City of White Hall during the 2016 

Student Literature Evangelism Program. These plans were implemented in late 2015, and 

include but are not limited to the transportation and housing of students in the vicinity of the City 

so that their evangelistic activities may be conducted within the City and surrounding area. 

Despite these preparations undertaken in good faith. Plaintiffs' evangelistic activities were 

immediately suspended when Josiah Hill received information from the City of White Hall that 

the City was interpreting and enforcing its laws to prohibit this religious speech without City

issued permits. The Conference actively seeks for the Program to resume evangelism within the 

City of White Hall, and Plaintiffs Josiah Hill, Elissa Amie Tesch and their colleagues stand 

ready, willing and able to resume these efforts to engage in religious speech once the 

impermissible "chill" on these efforts is removed on or about April 6, 2016. 

8. Defendant City of White Hall, Arkansas is a municipal corporation organized, 

existing and operating under Arkansas law, and located in Jefferson County, Arkansas, with the 
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capacity to sue and to be sued in this name. All actions by the City are actions taken under color 

of state law. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1343. 

10. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendant. 

11. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b ). 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

The City's Solicitation Ordinance 

12. In November 2014, the City enacted Ordinance No. 473 pertaining to "'Solicitors 

and Peddlers." The Ordinance imposes restraints upon any individual or group engaged in 

expressive conduct which includes door-to-door charitable or religious solicitation anywhere 

within the City limits. A true and correct copy of the Ordinance is attached as Exhibit 1. 

13. The Ordinance was enacted "to protect against criminal activity, including fraud 

and burglary, minimize the unwelcome disturbance of citizens and disruption of privacy and to 

otherwise preserve the public health, safety and welfare by regulating and licensing door-to-door 

solicitors and peddlers." 

14. The Ordinance enacted by the City is not content neutral, and is not narrowly 

tailored to serve these articulated governmental interests. 

15. The Ordinance defines three groups of individuals: 

A. A "Canvasser" is defined as "'any person who attempts to make personal 

contact with a resident at his/ her residence without prior specific invitation or 
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appointment from the residence for the primary purpose of (1) attempting to solicit 

support for or against a particular religion, philosophy, ideology, political party, issue, or 

candidate, even if incidental to such purpose the canvasser accepts the donation of money 

for or against such case, or (2) distributing a handbill or flyer advertising a non

commercial event or services.'' (Ordinance Sec. I 01 (a).) A "Canvasser" is exempt from 

the provisions of the Ordinance. (Ordinance Sec. 102(e).) 

B. A "Peddler'' is defined as "any person who goes upon the premises of any 

private resident in the City, not having been invited by the occupant thereof, carrying or 

transporting goods, wares, merchandise or personal property of any nature and offering 

the same for sale. This definition also includes any person who solicits orders and as [a] 

separate transaction makes deliveries to purchasers as part of the scheme to evade the 

provision of the Ordinance. Peddler does NOT include a person who distributes 

handbills or flyers for a commercial purpose, advertising an event, activity or good, or 

services that is offered to a resident for purchase at a location away from his/her resident 

[sic] or at a time different from the time of visit." (Ordinance Sec. lOl(t).) A ''Peddler" 

is required to comply with the permit requirements set forth in the Ordinance. 

(Ordinance Sec. I 02.) 

C. A "Solicitor" is "any person who goes upon the premises of any private 

resident in the City, not having been invited by the occupant thereof, for the purpose of 

taking or attempting to take orders for the sale of goods, merchandise, wares, or other 

personal property of any nature for future delivery, or for services to be performed in the 

future. This definition also includes any person who, without invitation, goes upon 

private property, to request contribution of funds of anything of value, or sell goods or 
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services for political, charitable, religious, or other non-commercial purposes." 

(Ordinance Sec. 102(i).) A "Solicitor" must comply with the permit requirements set 

forth in the Ordinance. (Ordinance Sec. I 02.) 

16. The Ordinance makes it "unlawful for any person eighteen (18) years of age or 

older to engage in peddling or solicitation activities within the City of White Hall, Arkansas 

without first obtaining a permit issued by the White Hall Police Department.'' (Ordinance Sec. 

102.) 

17. There are several exemptions to the Ordinance. As noted above, Canvassers are 

entirely exempt from the provisions of the Ordinance. (Ordinance Sec. I 02(e).) Also exempt 

from the provisions of the Ordinance is "[a]ny solicitations for the relief of any individual 

specified by name at the time of the solicitation where the solicitor represents in each case that 

the entire amount collected shall be turned over the named beneficiary.'' (Ordinance Sec. 

102(d).) 

18. As set forth in the Ordinance, "[ v ]iolation of any of the provisions of this 

Ordinance shall be penalized, per occurrence, as follows: 

First Offense: 

Second Offense: 

(Ordinance Sec. l I 9(a).) 

$200.00 fine 

Mandatory Court Appearance with fine not to 

exceed $500.00 or imprisoned not more than 30 

days or both fined and imprisoned in the discretion 

of the Court." 

19. With the exception of a limited number of preferred speakers (none of which 

includes Plaintiffs), the Ordinance requires that, in order to obtain the required permit. every 
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person must ''file with the White Hall Police Department an application in writing on a form to 

be furnished by the Department." (Ordinance Sec. I 04.) 

20. In order to obtain the required permit, the Ordinance imposes substantial 

disclosure obligations on persons who wish to speak on religious matter. The application must 

contain seven categories of information: 

A. "Proof of age, address and government issued identification of the 

applicant, to be provided through the applicant's driver's license ... or other legally 

recognized form of identification. (Ordinance Sec. I 04(a).) The Ordinance fails to 

describe or define what constitutes an ''other legally recognized form of identification" 

that would be considered acceptable. 

B. ''A brief description of the business or activity to be conducted." 

(Ordinance Sec. 104(b).) 

C. ''The hours and location for which the right to peddle or solicit is desired." 

(Ordinance Sec. I 04(c).) 

D. "If employed, the name, address and telephone number of the employer; 

or if acting as an agent, the name, address and telephone number of the principal who is 

being represented, with credentials in written form establishing the relationship and the 

authority of the employee or agent to act for the employer or principal, as the case may 

be." (Ordinance Sec. 104(d).) 

E. ''A statement as to whether or not the applicant has been convicted of a 

felony, misdemeanor or ordinance violation (other than traffic violations), the nature of 

the offense or violation, the penalty or punishment imposed, the date when and where 

such offense occurred, and other pertinent details thereof." (Ordinance Sec. 104(e).) 
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F. "Proof of possession of any license or permit which, under federal, state or 

local laws or regulations, the applicant is required to have in order to conduct the 

proposed business, or which, under any such law or regulations, would exempt the 

applicant from the licensing requirements of this Ordinance." (Ordinance Sec. I 04(f).) 

The Ordinance does not describe or define the kind of laws to which this section refers, 

what constitutes an acceptable form of "license or permit," or what kind of 

documentation properly can establish that the applicant is exempt from ''the licensing 

requirements of this Ordinance." 

G. "Two (2) photographs of the applicant which shall have been taken within 

sixty (60) days immediately prior to the date of filing for the application. The 

photographs shall measure two inch( es) by two inches) and show the head and shoulders 

of the applicant in a clear and distinguishing manner." (Ordinance Sec. 104(g).) 

21. At the time an applicant submits the completed application to the City of White 

Hall Police Department, the applicant also must pay a flat fee of $50.00 "to cover the cost to the 

City of processing the application and investigating the facts stated therein. (Ordinance Sec. 

105.) This flat ''permit fee" must be paid by each solicitor or peddler. This fee imposes an 

impermissible "tax" upon applicants before they may exercise their protected First Amendment 

rights within the City. 

22. The Ordinance provides that once an application is received, the Chief of Police, 

or an unnamed and undesignated "authorized representative" ''shall review the application as 

deemed necessary to ensure the protection of the public health, safety and general welfare." 

(Ordinance Sec. 107(a).) The scope of this review is not specified, nor are any standards 

provided to limit the exercise of discretion in deciding what "ensure[s] the protection of the 
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public health, safety and general welfare.'' Further, the requirement that a person pass a 

discretionary and standardless review process as a pre-condition for exercising the protected 

right to engage in religious speech violates the First Amendment. 

23. After this discretionary review, the Ordinance further vests the Chief of Police 

with added discretion to determine whether an application is "satisfactory." (Ordinance Sec. 

107(b ).) The scope of this review also is not specified, nor are any standards provided to limit 

the exercise of discretion in deciding whether an application is ''satisfactory." Only after this 

additional discretionary review and determination that the application is ''satisfactory" will the 

Chief of Police approve the permit and deliver it to the applicant ''upon payment of the 

prescribed fee." (Id.) 

24. Once issued, "[t]he permit shall show the name, address and photograph of the 

permittee, the class of permit issued, the kind of goods or services to be sold or delivered, the 

date of issuance, and the length of time that the permit shall be in effect." (Ordinance Sec, 

107(c).) Nowhere does the Ordinance set forth the different "class[ es] of permit to which this 

Section refers. 

25. Even the length of time in which a given permit shall be valid in ambiguous. 

Section 109 states that "[a]ll permits issued under the provisions of this Ordinance shall expire 

one ( 1) year from the date of issuance, unless an earlier expiration date is noted on the permit." 

The Ordinance fails to set forth who is authorized to make this determination, what standards are 

to be used in deciding whether to shorten the expiration period and whether there is any 

restriction on how brief a period a permit may be valid. As a result, an individual applying for a 

permit cannot determine from the face of the Ordinance how often he/she must apply, pay the 

required permit fee and be subject to additional discretionary reviews by the Chief of Police. 

-9-

Case 5:16-cv-00013-JM   Document 1   Filed 01/19/16   Page 9 of 40



26. The Ordinance indicates that the Chief of Police "may refuse to issue a permit, 

and enumerates six "reasons," but does not state that this list is exhaustive. (Ordinance Sec. 

I 08(a).) These "reasons" include such things as "[t]he location and time of solicitation or 

peddling would endanger the safety and welfare of the solicitors, peddlers or their customers.'' 

(Ordinance Sec. 108(a)(l).) The scope of this review is not specified, nor are any standards 

provided to limit the exercise of discretion in deciding whether "[t]he location and time of 

solicitation or peddling would endanger the safety and welfare of the solicitors, peddlers or their 

customers.'' 

27. The Chief of Police also may refuse to issue a permit to the applicant if "[t]he 

applicant has been denied a permit under this Ordinance within the immediate past year, unless 

the applicant can and does show to the satisfaction of the Police Chief that the reason for such 

earlier denial no longer exists.'' (Ordinance Sec. 108(a)(6).) Again. the scope of this review is 

not specified, nor are any standards provided to limit the exercise of discretion in deciding 

whether the Police Chief is "'satisfied." As a result, an applicant - once refused a permit - may 

be precluded from securing a permit for 12 months after his/her application is denied. This 

never-ending loophole denies an applicant any ability to exercise the protected right to engage in 

religious speech in violation of the First Amendment. 

28. The Ordinance does not specify that the six enumerated "'reasons" are the only 

grounds on which the Chief of Police may deny a permit. As shown above, in addition to the six 

''reasons" set forth in Section I 08, the Chief of Police is further authorized not to grant an 

application if he finds that an unspecified initial review is ''necessary to ensure the protection of 

the public health, safety and general welfare," or if the Chief of Police finds that the application 

is not "satisfactory." 
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29. The Ordinance imposes significant delays upon attempts to exercise free speech 

and religious liberty rights. The Ordinance fails to contain any time limit for the approval or 

denial of an application. By granting itself an unlimited amount of time to consider an 

application, the City has created an impermissible prior restraint on speech: a speaker effectively 

may be denied the right of religious speech simply through the inaction of the City. 

30. The Ordinance does not contain any provision which would permit the protected 

religious speech to proceed if such delays occasioned by the City's inaction and indecision were 

to occur. 

31. After a permit is issued, a person still may not freely engage in religious speech 

protected by the First Amendment. Under the Ordinance, a Peddler or Solicitor cannot ''enter 

upon any private property, knock on doors or otherwise disturb persons in their residences 

between the hours of 7:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m." (Ordinance Sec. 114.) This arbitrary limitation is 

not a reasonable time, place or manner restriction, and is not narrowly tailored to serve the City's 

governmental interests. 

32. Residents of the City remain free to keep permit holders off of their property. 

Under the Ordinance, the "owner, occupant or person legally in charge" of a premises may post 

''a sign bearing the words, 'NO PEDDLER,' 'NO SOLICITORS,' or words of similar import, or 

they may file "a 'No Solicitation Registration Form' with the City, a copy of which ''shall be 

provided to each recipient of a permit to engage in solicitation." (Ordinance Sec. 113.) As a 

result, City residents are more than able to minimize any unwelcome disturbances or disruption 

of privacy" without the cumbersome, standardless and overbroad permit process imposed by the 

City. 
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33. Even after the City issues a permit, the Chief of Police retains the limitless 

discretion to revoke or suspend it at any time. Under Section 115 of the Ordinance, the Chief of 

Police may revoke or suspend an issued permit for any one of five reasons, one of which is 

''[c]onducting peddling or solicitation activities in such a manner as to create a public nuisance, 

constitute a breach of the peace or endanger the health, safety or general welfare of the public." 

The Ordinance does not provide any standards to define these terms or to limit the exercise of 

discretion for deciding whether activities "create a public nuisance, constitute a breach of the 

peace or endanger the health, safety or general welfare of the public." 

34. The Ordinance does state that a permit may not be revoked or suspended until 

after notice and hearing. However, the Ordinance does not contain any provision which would 

permit the protected religious speech to proceed during the period after notice is given but before 

the hearing produces a result. 

35. The Ordinance does not contain any provision allowing for judicial review of an 

action or decision by the City. The Ordinance also does not require the City to bear the burden 

to obtain a judicial ruling if it seeks to prevent the speech from occurring. 

36. The only appeal provided by the Ordinance is to the Mayor, and under the 

Ordinance, "[t]he decision of the Mayor on the appeal shall be final and binding on all parties 

concerned." (Ordinance Sec. 117(£).) The Ordinance does not contain any written standards 

under which the appeal may be taken or is to be decided. 

37. The "appeal'' provided by the Ordinance imposes significant, impermissible 

delays upon attempts to exercise free speech rights. Once an aggrieved person starts the 

appellate process by filing with the Chief of Police a written statement setting forth the grounds 

for appeal, the Police Chief has ten days in which merely to "transmit the written statement to the 
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Mayor.'' (Ordinance Sec. l l 7(c).) The Mayor then is required to set a hearing for "not later than 

twenty (20) days from the date of receipt of the appellant's written statement." (Ordinance Sec. 

l l 7(d).) Even after this protracted 30-day period, the Ordinance fails to contain any time limit 

for the Mayor to rule on the appeal after the hearing. Once again, by granting itself an unlimited 

amount of time to dispose of an appeal, the City has created an impermissible prior restraint on 

speech: a speaker effectively may be denied the right of religious speech simply through the 

Mayor's inaction in deciding an appeal. 

38. The Ordinance does not contain any provision which would permit the protected 

religious speech to proceed during the pendency of the single avenue for ''appeal" afforded by 

the Ordinance. 

39. ''Any person claiming to be legally exempt from the regulations set forth in this 

Ordinance ... shall cite to the Police Chief the statute or other legal authority under which 

exemption is claimed, and shall present to the Police Chief proof of qualification for such 

exemption." (Ordinance Sec. 118.) The Police Chief has unlimited discretion in considering a 

claim for exemption. The Ordinance does not provide any standards by which the Police Chief 

is to determine which speakers and which speech will be allowed to occur without the prior 

restraint and restrictions imposed by the Ordinance. 

The Religious Nature of the Canvassing Program 

40. Each of the individual Plaintiffs is an observant member of the Seventh-day 

Adventist faith and attends a church within the Arkansas-Louisiana Conference of Seventh-day 

Adventists. 

41. The Seventh-day Adventist faith is a conservative Protestant Christian faith. As a 

result, one of the primary tenets of the Seventh-day Adventist faith is follow the "Great 
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Commission" given by Jesus Christ to "'spread the Gospel." See Matthew 28:18-20 ("Therefore 

go and make disciples of all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father and of the Son and 

of the Holy Spirit, and teaching them to obey everything I have commanded you.") 

42. One of the methods by which the individual Plaintiffs, the Arkansas-Louisiana 

Conference and its members historically have communicated their religious views is through 

door-to-door witnessing, evangelism, and the distribution of literature about the Seventh-day 

Adventist faith to interested persons. Plaintiffs currently are following these traditional methods, 

and they will continue to follow these practices for the foreseeable future as an integral part of 

their faith. 

43. These evangelistic efforts involve, inter alia, verbal testimonies about the acts and 

mercies of the God of the Bible, the redemption and salvation offered to humankind through 

Jesus Christ, offers of prayer and religious instruction and counseling to those who are willing to 

receive it, as well as an effort to distribute printed religious literature and to obtain a commitment 

from the persons so evangelized in the form of a voluntary financial contribution to demonstrate 

this commitment. 

44. For many years, the Arkansas-Louisiana Conference of Seventh-day Adventists 

has partnered with religious (non-profit) supporting ministries of the Seventh-day Adventist 

Church to conduct evangelistic activities. One such missionary and evangelistic activity is the on

going Student Literature Evangelism Program run by Ouachita Hills College. The Conference 

provides monetary and "in kind" support for the Program. 

45. Church members, such as the individual Plaintiffs, who participate in missionary 

efforts that involve the distribution of religious literature are recognized by the Seventh-day 
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Adventist Church as "Literature Evangelists.'' The literature that they distribute is the "seed'' 

that is referred to in biblical parable of the sower. See Matthew 13:3-8. 

46. Although not all who hear are receptive, the Conference and the individual 

Plaintiffs currently, and for some time, have participated in evangelistic activities through the 

Program in the State of Arkansas and similar programs in other states. 

4 7. One of the locations in which the individual Plaintiffs actively seek to engage in 

missionary activities as Literature Evangelists for the Program is within the city limits of the City 

of White Hall. 

48. The Conference will continue the Program this coming Spring, and in regular 

intervals thereafter for the foreseeable future, just as it previously has done for many years. Each 

of the individual Plaintiffs is committed to serving the Church as a Literature Evangelist within 

the City of White Hall during the 2016 Programs, and each of them has taken concrete steps in 

order to make this happen with the Program. 

49. In the Student Literature Evangelism Program, church members (typically college 

students) travel in teams to various locations during designated time periods both during the 

school year and the summer. In the instant case, the next dates on which the Program seeks to 

operate in the City of White Hall are April 6-12, 2016. 

50. These teams generally consist of a leader/driver and other members who are 

divided into teams of several members. 

51. During the Program, the teams travel to a pre-determined destination and witness 

door to door, offering literature about the Seventh-day Adventist faith to interested persons, 

engaging in verbal evangelism by sharing testimonies and religious information, offering prayer, 
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religious instruction and counseling to persons who are willing to receive it, and seeking 

voluntary donations to help support the Program and further its evangelistic purpose. 

52. Such requests for voluntary donations are integral to the religious message that is 

presented by Literature Evangelists. The simple act of making such a donation often is the first 

step toward the religious conversion of the hearer. This aspect of the evangelistic activities of 

the student missionaries is fundamental component for spreading the Seventh-day Adventist 

faith. 

The Actions Taken By The City 

53. In the Fall of 2015, Literature Evangelists, who included the individual Plaintiffs, 

were scheduled to spend several days in December 2015 evangelizing under the Program in the 

City of White Hall. 

54. Before any missionary activities commenced, the City was informed by letter of 

the Plaintiffs' intended activities within the City of White Hall. In response, the City provided a 

copy of its Ordinance. 

55. Thereafter, the City has interpreted and continued to interpret the Ordinance to 

apply to and restrict Plaintiffs' missionary activities, and has communicated its intent to continue 

applying and enforcing this Ordinance against them. Specifically: 

A. After receiving a copy of the Ordinance, Plaintiff Josiah Hill spoke with 

Richard Wingard, the City of White Hall Chief of Police. Plaintiff Hill explained the 

planned evangelistic activities of the student missionaries and asked Chief Wingard 

whether the City would apply the Ordinance to the Literature Evangelists, even though 

they were not engaging in any sales activity but were only engaging in verbal evangelistic 

activities, distributing religious literature and asking for voluntary charitable 
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contributions. Plaintiff Hill also inquired about what information would be necessary for 

the Program to qualify for an exemption from the regulations set forth in the Ordinance. 

B. In response to this query, the Police Chief stated that he met earlier with 

both the City Attorney and the Mayor, and the three of them already had concluded that 

Plaintiffs would not be granted an exemption from the Ordinance. This decision had 

been made before Plaintiffs were given the opportunity to cite to the Police Chief the 

statute or other legal authority under which exemption is claimed, and to present proof of 

qualification for such exemption, as provided under Section 118 of the Ordinance. 

C. On December 14, 2015, counsel for the General Conference of Seventh-

day Adventists wrote a letter to Tom Owens, who had been identified as the City 

Attorney for the City of White Hall. The letter again explained the nature of the 

Literature Evangelist Program. The letter also set forth an analysis of the Ordinance and 

an explanation as to why the Ordinance failed to pass constitutional muster. And, despite 

the earlier comments from the Chief of Police, the letter expressly asked the City 

Attorney to consider the letter as a ''Claim of Exemption" submitted under Section 118 of 

the Ordinance. Finally, the letter requested a meeting to see if a mutually agreeable 

resolution of these issues may be possible. 

D. In response to this letter, Mr. Owens sent an email to counsel for the 

General Conference on December 14, 2015. In that communication, Mr. Owens 

reiterated the City's position that the Ordinance properly could be applied to Plaintiffs 

and their evangelistic activities. He also indicated that the City would be willing to 

discuss this matter further. 
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E. Over the next week, counsel for the General Conference attempted to 

contact Mr. Owens several times: in a return email, and by phoning Mr. Owens at his 

office on at least three different occasions. Although counsel for the General Conference 

left messages for Mr. Owens to return the phone calls, to-date, neither Mr. Owens nor 

any other representative of the City has replied. 

F. In each of these communications from the General Conference, it was 

made clear that - because time was of the essence - if the City continued to insist on 

enforcement of the Ordinance, a lawsuit would be unavoidable. 

56. As a result of this series of communications, the City of White Hall has made 

clear that it intends to enforce its Ordinance against the evangelistic activities of the Plaintiffs, 

despite the fact that they fall within the core of speech and religious liberty protected by the First 

Amendment. Moreover, the City consistently has rebuffed or ignored the good-faith efforts of 

the Plaintiffs and their counsel to resolve this dispute without the need for court intervention. 

57. As a direct and proximate result of the City's threatened enforcement of its 

Ordinance, Plaintiffs have avoided, and have not engaged in, any evangelistic activities or 

religious speech within the City of White Hall. 

58. Due to the nature of the Program, Plaintiffs will have insufficient time to minister 

unless and until a Preliminary Injunction is issued before the end of March 2016. Unless the 

City of White Hall is enjoined from enforcing the Ordinance, the residents of the City will be 

denied the gospel message, and Plaintiffs will be denied their right to engage in religious speech 

protected by the First Amendment. 

59. Because Plaintiffs have avoided evangelizing within the City, none of the 

Plaintiffs or other Literature Evangelists has been arrested, prosecuted, or charged with an 
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offense within the City. However, the City, acting through its officials, has made clear that 

Plaintiffs and other Literature Evangelists who engage in religious speech within the City 

without securing the required permits will be arrested and prosecuted. 

60. As a direct and proximate result of the actions and threats by the City, acting 

through its officials, the Program and its missionaries, including but not limited to the Plaintiffs, 

suspended their plans to engage in evangelistic activities within the City and instead devoted 

their time and efforts to neighboring communities. 

61. Unless and until the City of White Hall's enforcement of its Ordinance is 

enjoined, Plaintiffs will be unable to witness to the citizens of the City in the Spring 2016 and 

subsequent Programs. 
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COUNT I 
CIVIL RIGHTS CLAIM 

DEPRIVATION OF FREE SPEECH AND ASSOCIATIONAL RIGHTS 
IN VIOLATION OF FEDERAL CONSTITUTION 

62. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 61 and all 

subparagraphs as if they were fully set forth herein. 

63. By prohibiting, constraining, conditioning, taxing and excessively limiting 

protected religious speech, the City of White Hall is violating the free speech rights of Plaintiffs 

and Conference members protected and guaranteed by the First and Fourteenth Amendments of 

the United States Constitution 

64. The denial of rights guaranteed by the First and Fourteenth Amendments by the 

City of White Hall under color of state law is actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

65. The Ordinance is directed specifically at protected expression and conduct 

commonly associated with such expression, and imposes substantial burdens upon that protected 

expression. 

66. The Ordinance 1s overbroad and impermissibly limits religious discourse and 

speech. 

67. The Ordinance is both facially unconstitutional and as applied to Plaintiffs' 

activities which involve only verbal evangelism, prayer and religious counseling, distribution of 

literature and requests for voluntary donations. 

68. Because Plaintiffs are required to obtain the City of White Hall's prior permission 

before engaging in constitutionally protected speech, the Ordinance is an unlawful prior restraint 

and is not narrowly tailored to serve the City's purported governmental interests. 

69. The Ordinance unconstitutionally vests the City of White Hall's agents with 

excessive, standardless discretion to investigate, approve, deny, revoke and suspend permits 
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without adequate objective limitations or procedural safeguards. Further, the Ordinance on its 

face creates preferred categories of speakers and speech to which the Ordinance does not apply. 

70. The Ordinance unconstitutionally grants the City of White Hall's agents 

excessive, standardless discretion to investigate, approve, deny, revoke and suspend permits 

without any provision for judicial appeal or review. The Ordinance fails to contain any objective 

criteria or standards which the City's agents must comply in their decision to approve or deny an 

application for a permit, their decision to revoke or suspend a permit, or their consideration of 

any appeals to the extent that such review even is authorized. 

71. The Ordinance is not a reasonable time, place or manner restriction. It prohibits 

certain speech (including that of the Plaintiffs) from 7:00 p.m. until 9:00 a.m., but allows other 

speech during this time depending on its content. It is a content-based and discriminatory 

restriction which prohibits protected speech within the entire City limits. Even if it were content 

neutral, which it is not, the regime created by the Ordinance is unreasonable and leaves 

insufficient alternatives for expression. 

72. The Ordinance violates the federal constitution and chills and substantially 

burdens protected speech by requiring individuals to disclose personal information and subject 

themselves to standardless review and investigation as a pre-condition for obtaining a permit to 

speak on religious subjects simply because that speech may also include a request for voluntary 

donations or contributions. 

73. The Ordinance violates the federal constitution and chills and substantially 

burdens protected speech by requiring the payment of a fee or "tax" as a condition of obtaining a 

permit to speak on religious subjects simply because that speech may also include a request for 

voluntary donations or contributions. 
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74. Through the enactment, enforcement, and threatened enforcement of the 

Ordinance, the City of White Hall has, under color of state law, deprived and continues to 

deprive Plaintiffs and their members of rights, privileges or immunities guaranteed, secured and 

protected by the Constitution or laws of the United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

75. The injuries suffered by Plaintiffs cannot be fully compensated by monetary 

damages. If enforcement of the Ordinance is not enjoined, Plaintiffs and Conference members 

will suffer irreparable injury which cannot adequately be remedied at law, including but not 

limited to, the chilling of their free speech rights. 

COUNT II 
CIVIL RIGHTS CLAIM 

DEPRIVATION OF FREEDOM OF RELIGION 
IN VIOLATION OF FEDERAL CONSTITUTION 

76. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs I through 75 and all 

subparagraphs as if they were fully set forth herein. 

77. The individual Plaintiffs are members of the Seventh-day Adventist Church. 

They follow, and have a sincere religious belief in, the teachings, tenets, beliefs and doctrines of 

the Church. 

78. One of the primary doctrines of the Seventh-day Adventist faith is to follow the 

"Great Commission'' given by Jesus Christ so "spread the Gospel." See Matthew 28: 18-20 

("Therefore go and make disciples of all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father and of 

the Son and of the Holy Spirit, and teaching them to obey everything I have commanded you.") 

79. One of the methods by which the Plaintiffs and other members of the Seventh-day 

Adventist Church historically have communicated their religious views is through door-to-door 

witnessing, evangelism, and the distribution of literature about the Seventh-day Adventist faith to 

interested persons. 
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80. Plaintiffs currently follow these traditional methods, and will continue to follow 

these practices for the foreseeable future as an integral part of their faith. 

81. The City of White Hall, through its Ordinance, has placed a substantial burden on 

Plaintiffs' ability to act on their sincerely-held religious beliefs. In particular: 

A. The Ordinance violates the federal constitution and substantially burdens 

the free exercise of religion by requiring individuals to disclose personal information and 

subject themselves to standardless review and investigation as a pre-condition for 

obtaining a permit to engage in evangelistic activities required by Plaintiffs' faith simply 

because those activities also may include a request for voluntary donations or 

contributions. 

B. The Ordinance violates the federal constitution and substantially burdens 

the free exercise of religion by requiring the payment of a fee or "tax" as a condition of 

obtaining a permit to engage in evangelistic activities required by Plaintiffs' faith simply 

because those activities also may include a request for voluntary donations or 

contributions. 

C. The Ordinance violates the federal constitution and substantially burdens 

the free exercise of religion by arbitrarily limiting the ability of Literature Evangelists to 

engage in door-to-door witnessing and the distribution of literature about the Seventh-day 

Adventist faith to interested persons during the hours of 7:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. 

82. The Ordinance does not further a compelling state interest. 

83. By enacting the Ordinance, the City has not pursued a compelling government 

interest in the manner least restrictive, or least burdensome, to religion. 
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84. Through the enactment, enforcement, and threatened enforcement of the 

Ordinance, the City of White Hall has, under color of state law, deprived and continues to 

deprive Plaintiffs and their members of rights, privileges or immunities guaranteed, secured and 

protected by the Constitution or laws of the United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

85. The injuries suffered by Plaintiffs cannot be fully compensated by monetary 

damages. If enforcement of the Ordinance is not enjoined, Plaintiffs and Conference members 

will suffer irreparable injury which cannot adequately be remedied at law, including but not 

limited to, the deprivation of their right to act on their sincerely-held religious beliefs. 

COUNT III 
CIVIL RIGHTS CLAIM 

DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTY INTERESTS WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW 
IN VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTION 

86. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 85 and all 

subparagraphs as if they were fully set forth herein. 

87. The Ordinance deprives Plaintiffs and Conference members of their speech, 

religion and liberty interests without due process of law in violation of the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

88. The Ordinance is void for vagueness. 

89. The Ordinance unconstitutionally vests the City of White Hall's agents with 

excessive, standardless discretion to investigate, approve, deny, revoke and suspend permits 

without adequate objective limitations or procedural safeguards. 

90. The Ordinance unconstitutionally grants the City of White Hall's agents 

excessive, standardless discretion to investigate, approve, deny, revoke and suspend permits 

without any provision for judicial appeal or review. The Ordinance fails to contain any objective 

criteria or standards which the City's agents must comply in their decision to approve or deny an 
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application for a permit, their decision to revoke or suspend a permit, or their consideration of 

any appeals to the extent that such review even is authorized. 

91. The City abused its discretion and chose to interpret and enforce the Ordinance in 

a manner that is arbitrary, capricious, unsupported by substantial evidence and otherwise not in 

accordance with the law. More particularly: 

A. The only reason articulated by the Chief of Police for applying the 

Ordinance to the missionary activities of the Literature Evangelists is that they would be 

asking for donations. According to the Police Chief, once a person asks for donations, he 

or she becomes a "'Solicitor" under the Ordinance. Yet a Canvasser may ''accept[] the 

donation of money," and a Canvasser is exempt from the provisions of the Ordinance. 

The Chief of Police has provided no reasoned rationale for pigeon-holing Plaintiffs as 

''Solicitors'' subject to the Ordinance rather than as "Canvassers" who are exempt from 

the Ordinance. 

B. In response to an oral inquiry about what information would be necessary 

for the Program to qualify for an exemption, the Police Chief stated that he met earlier 

with both the City Attorney and the Mayor, and the three of them already had concluded 

that Plaintiffs would not be granted an exemption from the Ordinance. This uninformed 

and biased decision was made before Plaintiffs were given the opportunity to cite to the 

Police Chief the statute or other legal authority under which exemption is claimed, and to 

present proof of qualification for such exemption, as provided under Section 118 of the 

Ordinance. 

C. Further, the Mayor - who is the only person designated by the Ordinance 

to hear any appeals from the decision of the Chief of Police - participated in the initial 
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decision to deny an exemption. This improper participation by the Mayor deprived 

Plaintiffs of their right to an impartial hearing officer. 

92. The Ordinance is silent as to any time or means for seeking judicial review of the 

denial, revocation or suspension of a permit. 

93. The Ordinance fails to contain any time limit for the approval or denial of an 

application. Similarly, the Ordinance fails to contain any time limit for the Mayor to rule on an 

appeal after a hearing. 

94. Through the enactment, enforcement, and threatened enforcement of the 

Ordinance, the City of White Hall has, under color of state law, deprived and continues to 

deprive Plaintiffs and Conference members of rights, privileges or immunities guaranteed, 

secured and protected by the Constitution or laws of the United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983. 

95. The injuries suffered by Plaintiffs cannot be fully compensated by monetary 

damages. If enforcement of the Ordinance is not enjoined, Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable 

injury which cannot adequately be remedied at law, including but not limited to, the chilling of 

their free speech rights and rights to the free exercise of their religion. 

COUNT IV 
STATE LAW CLAIM 

DEPRIVATION OF PLAINTIFFS' EXERCISE 
OF RELIGION IN VIOLATION OF THE ARKANSAS CONSTITUTION 
AND THE ARKANSAS RELIGIOUS FREEDOM RESTORATION ACT 

96. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs I through 95 and all 

subparagraphs as if they were fully set forth herein. 
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97. The individual Plaintiffs are members of the Seventh-day Adventist Church. 

They follow, and have a sincere religious belief in, the teachings, tenets, beliefs and doctrines of 

the Church. 

98. One of the primary doctrines of the Seventh-day Adventist faith is to follow the 

"Great Commission" given by Jesus Christ so "spread the Gospel." See Matthew 28: 18-20 

(''Therefore go and make disciples of all nations, baptizing them in the name of the Father and 

of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, and teaching them to obey everything I have commanded 

you.") 

99. One of the methods by which the Plaintiffs, including the individual Plaintiffs and 

other members of the Seventh-day Adventist Church, historically have exercised their religion is 

to communicate their religious views through door-to-door witnessing, evangelism, and the 

distribution of literature about the Seventh-day Adventist faith to interested persons. 

100. Plaintiffs currently follow these traditional methods, and will continue to follow 

these practices for the foreseeable future as an integral part of their faith. 

101. The City of White Hall, through its Ordinance, substantially burdened Plaintiffs' 

exercise of their religion including their ability to act on their sincerely-held religious beliefs. 

In particular: 

A. The Ordinance violates the Arkansas Constitution, Article 2, Section 24, 

and the Arkansas Religious Freedom Restoration Act, Ark. Code Ann. §§ 16-123-401 to -

407 ("RFRA''), as it substantially burdens the exercise of religion by requiring 

individuals to disclose personal information and subject themselves to standardless 

review and investigation as a pre-condition for obtaining a permit to engage in 
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evangelistic activities required by Plaintiffs' faith simply because those activities also 

may include a request for voluntary donations or contributions. 

B. The Ordinance violates the Arkansas Constitution, Article 2, Section 24, 

and the Arkansas RFRA, as it substantially burdens the free exercise of religion by 

requiring the payment of a fee or "tax" as a condition of obtaining a permit to engage in 

evangelistic activities required by Plaintiffs' faith simply because those activities also 

may include a request for voluntary donations or contributions. 

C. The Ordinance violates the Arkansas Constitution, Article 2, Section 24, 

and the Arkansas RFRA, as it substantially burdens the free exercise of religion by 

arbitrarily limiting the ability of Literature Evangelists to engage in door-to-door 

witnessing and the distribution of free literature about the Seventh-day Adventist faith to 

interested persons during the hours of 7:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. 

102. The Ordinance does not further a compelling governmental interest. 

I 03. By enacting the Ordinance, the City has not pursued a compelling government 

interest in the manner least restrictive to religion. 

104. Through the enactment, enforcement, and threatened enforcement of the 

Ordinance, the City of White Hall has substantially burdened, and continues substantially to 

burden, the exercise of religion by Plaintiffs, including Plaintiff Arkansas-Louisiana Conference 

of Seventh-day Adventists, its members, and the individual Plaintiffs, protected by the Arkansas 

Constitution, Article 2, Section 24, and Arkansas RFRA, in violation of Ark. Code Ann. §§ 16-

123-404(a) & 404(b). 

105. The injuries suffered by Plaintiffs cannot fully be compensated by monetary 

damages. If enforcement of the Ordinance is not enjoined, Plaintiffs, the Conference and its 
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members will suffer irreparable injury which cannot adequately be remedied at law, including 

but not limited to, the deprivation of their right to act on their sincerely-held religious beliefs. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiffs request that the Court enter a judgment in their favor and against Defendant for 

the following: 

1. Declaratory relief that that the Ordinance is unconstitutional both on its 

face and as applied to these Plaintiffs; 

2. Preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, enJommg Defendant, its 

employees, officers, agents and persons acting on its behalf from enforcing or threatening to 

enforce the Ordinance against Plaintiffs and other participants in the Program; 

3. An award of nominal damages of $1.00 to each Plaintiff; 

4. Reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, or 

such other authority as may authorize such an award; and 

5. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

Respectfully submitted, 

LA VEY and BURNETT 

Little Rock, AR 72201 
Telephone: (501) 376-2269 
Facsimile: (501) 372-1134 
E-mai 1: jburnett@laveyandburnett.com 

-and-
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RODEY, DICKASON, SLOAN, AKIN & ROBB, P.A. 
Andrew G. Schultz 
Matthew M. Beck 
P.O. Box 1888 
Albuquerque, NM 87103 
Telephone: (505) 765-5900 
Facsimile: ( 505) 768-7395 
E-mail: aschultz@rodey.com 

mbeck@rodey.com 

Todd R. McFarland 
Associate General Counsel 
Office of General Counsel 
General Conference of Seventh-day Adventists 
12501 Old Columbia Pike 
Silver Spring MD 20904-6600 
Telephone: (301) 680-6321 
Facsimile: (301) 680-6329 
E-mail: mcfarlandt@gc.adventist.org 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs Arkansas-Louisiana Conference of 
Seventh-day Adventists, Josiah Hill and Elissa Amie Tesch 
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r1~s~ ~~l 
<J-tu< -r'o ORDli"lA.."\CE NO. -413.. 
CottMH WI'( 

u / AN ORDJNA..~CE AJ.\ffi'\'DrNG THE CODE OF g-1c. ).t/1-/71~ 

~ /i THE CITY OF \VHITB HALL, AR.Kfu~SAS 

~ ~ WHEREAS, the Ci:y Cou:icil of WlUte Hall, Arkansas desires to amend Title XI: Gen ere! 

V Regulations of the Ci:y of WrJ.te Hall as it pertains to SOUC~G AND PEDDLIKG within 

tl'.e city 1:mirs; and 

WHEREAS, it has been express~y stated by the City Councii of the City of White Hall 

t.1:at the General Regu:a::ioas of 6.e City ofVv'hi~e Hall shouid be amended to provide for a r.ew 

Chapter. 

NOW, THER.'SFORE, BE IT ORDAL\lID BY THE CITY COtiNCIL OF Tii.t. CITY 

OF WHiTE HALL, ARKANSAS: 

SECTIOS 1. Chapter 98, Title XI: General Regulations shajl be replaced with the 

followir.g: 

· Sectio-::s: 

~01 

102 

103 
i.04 

105 
!06 
:07 
108 
109 
ilO 
: 11 
li2 
113 

CHAPTER 98: SOLICITORS ~'l'\D PEDDLERS 

Definitio~s 

Permit Reqlil:e::nents and Exemptions 
Permit for Sponsoring Juvenile Peddlers 
.Pear.it Applicatioll 
Fees 
Bc::d 
Application Review and Permit Issuance 
Dez:.ial of Permit 
Permit Expiration 
Ide:r:.ti:fication Badges 
P erniit Exhibition 
Transfe; Prohibited 
Betry 'Gpon Premises Unlawful 

:[:, tro T 1 e~ cl 'lov 

SA1J JN VOrJll. t..elft"f.,. 

'fov wr11.c. A-s1<.'""" 
,:;,a. Do.111Ar10~.J 1o.N'ct:. 

'/ov J.o -n • ..c+1 1r 1.3 ... ~ .. J 

SoJ. 1 ur~r,,,._,,. 

EXHIBIT 

I 1 
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114 
115 

116 

119 
120 

Hours of Scli:itation 
Pennit Revocation 
-:\otice and Hea:in.g 
Appeals 
Clairr.s of Exemption 
Violations and Penalty 
Severability 

An Ordinance to :;notect aga~st criminal activity, including fraud and burglary, 
mil:i.mize the 1.mwelcoc:e disturbance of citiz:ns a.'1d. the disruption of privacy and to 
ot!:erwise preserve the pub tic health, safety a:id welfare by regulating, controlling and 
lice.using door-to-door solicitcrs anc pddiers. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WHITE 
HALL, ARKANSAS: 

SECTlON 101. Defir:ftions. 

The following words, terms, and phrases, and their derivations, when used in this 
Orc:ir.ance, shall have the meanings ascribed. to them in this Sectio:i, except where the 
context c!eariy indicates a cifferent mee.:-!ing: 

(a) Car.vasser =ean.s any person wt.o attempts to oake personal contact with a 
resident at his/her residence without prior specific favitation or appointment 
from the resident for the primai.")' pi.L.yose of ( l) attempting to enlist support 
for or agsi:::.st a particc.lar :eligion, philosophy, ideology, political party, 
issue, or candidate, even if im:idental to such purpose the canvasser accepts 
the do::atio_n of money for or a_gainst such case, or(~) distributing a handbill 
or flyer advertising a non-commercial event o: servi~e. 

(b) Charitable means and includes the words patriotic, philanthropic, social 
service, health, welfare, be::evolent, educational, civi~. c~ltura.l or fratemai, 
eitb.er ac!Ual or purported. 

(c) 

r .. ) , ... 

Contributions mean and include the works, money, subscription, property or 
any donations under the guise of a loa!l or money or property. 

Department mear.s the Po:ice Department. 

Police Chief:neans the current chief of the White Hall Pclice Departme:it 
or his cesignee. 
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(f) Peddler ::iear.s any persor. who goes upon rbe premises of any private 
resident in the City, r.o: having been invited !:ly the occupa::it thereof, 
carrying or transporting goods, wares, r.c.erchandise or personal property of 
any nar~e and offering the sa:ne for sale. This de:mition aiso includes any 
perso~ who solicits o;ders and as separate transaction makes deliveries to 
pi;.rchasers as part cf the sclleme to evade the provision of !he Ordina~ce. 
Peddler does NOT include a person who distrihates handbills or flyers for a 
com~ercial p~rpose, advertising an event, activity, good, or service that is 
offered to a :esider.~ for purchase at a locatioi: away from h:s/her resident or 
at a ti.:ne differel'.!.t fro:= ±e !i.r:J.e of v:sit. 

(h) 

(i) 

(j) 

Peddling includes all ecrivities ordinarily performed by a peddler as 
ir:dicated i.:.nder parag:aph (e) of tl::.is Section. 

Person means a ~atural person or any firm, corporation, association, club, 
society or other organization. 

Solicitor !!leans any person who goes upon the pre.r:i:ses of any private 
residence in fae Ci~, net b.avi::ig been invited by the occupant thereof, for 
the purpose of takir..g or atte:a:.pting to take orders for the sale of goods, 
zne!'ch:mdise, wues, or c~h::- personal property o: any nature for fut\.:rc 
delivery, or for services to be performed in rhe future. This definition also 
i:}clu:ies any person who, without invitation, goes upon private property, to 
::-equest contrfout!.on of funds of anything of value, or sel1 goods o: services 
fo: political, charitable, religious, or other non-commercial purposes. 

Solicitation includes all activities ordinarily performed by a solidtor as 
indicated under paragraph (h) of this Section. 

. . 

SECTIO~ 102. Permit Requirements and Exemptions. 

I: shall be '.!Llawful for ally person eigl:teen ( 18) years of age or older to engage in 
peddling or solici:ation activities within tb.e City of White Hall, Arkansas without first 
obtaiLing a pen:lit issued by 6e White Hall Police Department; provided. however, that 
the foliowir:g are exempted fro:n the provisions cf this Se:::tion: 

(a) Any soli:itation made upon premises owned or ozc1.!pied by an organization 
upo::i whose behalf fae solicitation is made; 

(b) Any ccn::.m:.:.nication by an organization soliciting con.tributiocs solely from 
persons who a:e members of foe organization at th.e time of such 
solicitation; 
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Any soiicitatior. in the form of a collection at a regular meeting, assembly or 
service of a charitable persor:; or 

(d) A'J.y solic:rar:o:. for foe relief of any individual specified by r:.a~e at the 
time of the solicitation where the solicitor represents in each case that the 
entire an1oun: col:ected shall be turned over to the named beneficiary. 

(e) A "canvasser" as defined ii: SECTIO~ 101 . 

.SECTION 103. Permit for Sponsoring Juvenile Peddlers. 

(:i.) Ne perso:: u::.derthe age cf eighteen (18} sha.11 be per!:l!t!ed ~c engage in 
peddling except as provided in this Section. 

(b) A pera:it shall be obtained by a sponsoring person, company, or 
organ:.Zatioi.: for rte conduct of any peddling or solicitatio~ activities 
ic.volvi!lg, i~ ·~vhoie or in pa;r, a sales for of one (l) or n::.ore persons under 
eighteen ( J 8) y~ars of agt" 

(c) The sponsor shall be responsible for supe;vising and controlling the 
co;;.<luc: of aii persons inckding juveniles. peddlfog undei the sponsor· s 
perm:t. 

SECTIO~ 104. Permit Application. 

Every person subject to the provisions of this Ordinance shall fiie with the White 
Hail Po!ice Departmer:t an application in ~rriting o;:i a form to be furnished by the 
Department, whic:. shall provide the following information: 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(
,.J\ .... ; 

Proof of age, address a:id government issued identifica:ion of the applicant, 
to be provided thro;.igh ·the applicant's driver's license, articles of 
inco:poration (for spo.isors), or other legally recognized form of 
identification; 

A brief descriptio:i of the b~siness or activity to be conducted; 

Th~ h.01:.~ a::id location for which the right to peddle or solicit is desired; 

If employed, fr.e :iame, address a:id telephone number of the employer; or if 
acting as an agent, the came, address and telepbo:ie numbe: of the principai 
who is being represer:ted, with credentials in written form establishing the 
relatio.r:sh:;> a:d. ::he authority of the employee or agent to act for the 
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e:r:.?loye: or p:ir:cipa:, as the case may be; 

(e) A statement as to whether or not the applicant has bee::. convicted of a 
felony, misderr.eano: or ordinance violation (other tha:i traffic violations), 
:he nature of !he of:fe::se or vioi.ation, the penalty or punishment imposed, the 
date when and place where such offe:u.se occurred, and other peninent details 
C::.ereof; 

(±) Proof of possession of ar:.y license or pe:mit which, ur:.der federal, state or 
locai laws or regulations, the applicant is required to have in order to 
cor.duct the proposed business, or which, u.ader any such law or regulat:ons, 
wou:d exe,mpt the applicant from the Iicen.sing req..ilrements of this 
Ordir.ance; a::id 

(g) Two (2) :;:>hotographs of the applicant which shall have been taken within 
sixty (60) days immediately prior to the date of filing for the application. The 
photographs shaH measu:e nY..Q_inch(es) by two inch( es) and show the head 
and shodders of the applicant in a clear and distinguishing manner. 

SECTION 105. Fees. 

At the time of foe application is filed with the Department, the applicant shall pay a 
:'ee to cover the cost to the City of processing the application. and investigating the facts 

stated thereir.. The permit fee shall be fifty ($50.00) dollars for each solicitor or peddler. 

SECTION 106. Bond. 

All solicitors requiring cash deposits or taking orders for cash on delivery purchases 
(C.O.D.) Or.who requ.fre a contract of agreement to finance the sale of any goods, 
services, or x.erchand:se for future delivery, or for services to be performed in the future, 
shall fo .. "'nish to the Department a bond in the amount of oI!e thousand (S 1,000.00) dollars. 

SECTION 107 .. Application Review and Permit Issuance. 

(a) Upon receipt of an application, Chief of Police, or authorized 
representative, shall review the application as deemed necessary to ensure 
the pro~ection of the pub:ic nealth, safety, and general welfare. 

(b) If ne .Police Chief finds tl:.e application to be satisfactory, the .Police Chief 
shalt endorse his approv~l on the application and shall, upon payment of the 
prescribed fee, deliver the required permit to the applicant. 
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(c) The per=it shal: show the name, address and photograph of tlle perm.:.ttee, 
rte class of perrr:.ir issueci, the kind of goods or services to be sold or 
de:ivered, the date of issuance, and the length of time that the permit shall be 
b effec:. The permit shall also show the pe:mit ~umber and identifying 
descriptio:c o: ar.y veb.ic:e to be used in carrying on the business for which 
the pe~J.i~ is issued. 

(d) A record of al! ;iermits issued shall be main:ained by the Department for a 
period of t'.vo (2) years. 

SECTIOX 108. Denial of Permit. 

(a) Upon the Poifoe Cl:ief review of tl:e application, the Police Cruef 
may refose to issue a permit to the applicaut under this Orc!inance for any of 
the fotiowing reasons: 

( ~) : The iocatio.n anci :i:Le of solicitatio~ or peddliilg would endanger the 
sa.fety and we:fare of the solicito:s, peddlers or their customers: 

i 

(2) An investigarion reveals that the applicant falsified information on the 
appiicarion; 

(3) The app!:~ant has beer! convicted of a felony, misdemeanor or 
ordmance violatio-LJ involving a s·ex o:fense, trafficking in controlled 
substa~ces, or any violent acts against persons or property, such 
conviction being er:tered within the five (S) years precedio.g the da!e 
of application; 

{4) The apiJlicant is a persoi.::. against whom a judgment based upon., or 
convictioi: for, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation has bee:i entered 
within the five (5) years immediately preceding the date of the 
application; 

(5) There is no :proof as to the authority of the applicant to serve as an 
agent to the princi;;ial; o: 

(6) The applicant has been de4ied a permit "Jnder tbis Ordinance within 
the im:c.ediate past year, ur.less the applicant can and does show to 
t!l.e satisfa:tion of the Police Chief that the reason for such earlier 
denial r.o tonger exisr; 

(b) The Po:ice Chief's disapp:oval s.:id the reasons for disapproval shall be 
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r.o~ed on fae applicario:;., ar:d the applicant shall be notified that his 
ap;ilication is disepp:oved and that no peroit will be issued. Notice shail be 
rr:ai:ed to tile applicaut a: the address shown on the appli(:ation foro, or at 
the applicaafs last known address. 

SECTION 109. Permit Expiration. 

A:l perrr:its iss;;.ed unde:: the provisions of this Ordinance shall expire one ( ! ) year 
fro~~ the C.a:e of iss~a:.ce, ·.z1ess e:. earlier expiration date is noted or. foe permit. 

SECTION 110. Identification Badges. 

(a) At the same fane as the pertnit is issued: the Police Chief may issue to each 
permittee a badge, which stall be wom by pe::::::;ittee, if issued, in such a way 
as to be conspicuous a: all times while the pe~ittee is soliciting or peddling 
in the City. 

(b) A canvasse:-, otherwise exempt fro~ the provisions of the Article, may 
reql!est tb.e issuance of ar. identification badge from th.e City for the purpose 
of assu....--ing city reside!:. ts of tb.e canvasser· s good faith. 

SECTIO~ 111. Permit Exhibition. 

Every person required to obtai~ a permit under the provisions of this Ordinance 
shali exhibit the permit when requested to do so by any prospective cus~::imer or Police 
Department employee and shall .keep the permit upon his/her person at all times. 

SECTIOI' 112. Transfer Prohibited. 

it shall be unlawful for any person other than the permittee to use or wear any 
permit or badge issued under the provisions of this Ordinar.ce. 

SECTIO!'i' 113. Entry Upon Premises Unlawful. 

It snail be unlawfol for any person, whether licensed or unlicensed, whiie 
conducting the business of a ca=ivasser, peddler, or solicitor, to enter upon any residential 
premises in the Ciry where the owner, occupant o: person legally in charge of the premises 
b.as: 

(a) Posted, at the entry to the premises, er at the entry to the principal building 
on tte premises, a sign bearing the words, "NO PEDDLERS," ''NO 
SOLICITORS," or words of similar import; or 
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(b) Fi:ed a "No Solicita::o.: Registrarion Form" with the City on a fom. 
furnished by t~e City fo: rha~ pi.:pose. The City will maintain a "No 

Sclicita~ioa" :ist of those persons who wish to restrict soiicitation on their 
p::cpeny by ca~vassers, peddlers, a::.d solicitors. The "No Solicitation" list 
shall be a p~blic do~ument and a copy cf the list shaH be provided to each 
recipieLt of a permit to engage in solicitation. If a canvasser choose not to 
apply for a~ identificatio:i ca:d, it will be t!:le responsibility of that canvasser 
to obtain a CO?Y of:he "No Solicitation" list. 

SECTIOX 114. Hours of Solicitation. 

"'~ ...... '""' "',J.,:lo .... "'11"'",...1 .. ,,..+~" fol..-:.~ ........ ; .. ; .. .; ... ,,.. ..... ..J .. n - _.,.. 1;,...~ ........ wi...e.1..e-·•v l:'erso:i, ...... .., ... v .. ~ ......... g Ll41;.' ~..,u'lfiue;, V.!. r. pe1..u..e1 V• so ... \..l•V•, u iJ.l , 

licensed o: unli~ensed, shall er.~er upon any private proper:y, knock oa doors or otherwise 
a:smrb persons in their residences between the hours of 7:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. 

SECTIO:'.': 115. Permit Revocation. 

Any permit :ssued ur.cier this Ordinance may be revoked or suspended by the Police 
Chief, enter no:ice and hea;mg, for a.:iy of the foilowing reasons: 

! 

:'a; F::a1~d, mis;epre;ier.ratinn or fal1ie 1m1teme-nt cont11ined in the <ipp!ication for~ 
permit; 

(b) 

(c) 

( ') \Cl 

(e) 

Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement made by the pennittee in the 
course of co.:iductir:.g solicitation or peddling activities; 

Conducting peddling er solicitation activities contrary to the provisions 
contained in the permit; 

Co~vi:::tio:r:. fo: any crime involving moral turpitude; or 

Cor.ducting peddling or solicitation activities in such a manner as to create a 
public nuisa!lce, constitute a b:each of the peace or endanger the health, 
safety or general welfare of the pi.:.blic. 

SECTION 116 Notice and Hearing. 

)~ :r~ice of a hearir.g for :evocation of a permit issued under this Ordicance shall be 
p:ovlded in wr.i:te:. a:.d sh.all set :for..h specifically the grounds for the proposed revocation 
and :he ~frne and place ofTbe hearir.g. Notice shall be mailed. postage prepaid, to the 
pennittee at the address s!J.own on the pen:::!it application or at the last known address of 
tl:e perc.ittee. 
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SECTIO~ 117. Appeals. 

(a) AJy person aggrieved by the action or decision of the Police Chief to deny, 
suspe~d or revoke a pern:i! applied for under the provisions of this 
Ordinance sta:l have the right to appea: such action or decision to the Mayor 
withi::;. fifteen ( 15) days after the notice of the action or decision has been 
:nailed :o :he person's address as shown on the permit application for::n, or to 
h:s last known ad.dress. 

Co) An appeal shall be tal<:en by filing with the Police Chief a written statment 
setting forth the grounds for appeal. 

(c/ The Police Chief shall transmit the written statement to the Mayor within ten 
(10) days of its receipt and the Mayor shall set a time and place for a hearing 
o::;. :ne appeal. 

(d) A hearing sh<!il be set not later than twenty (20) days from the dare of receipt 
of the appei1anr's w:itten statement. 

(e) Not:ce of the time and p:ace of the hearing shall be given to the appellant L.'l 
~rie- _1;::irn~ mAnner as provided for rile mailing of notice of action or decision. 

(f) The decision of the Mayor o~ the appeal shall be final and bi.ndi.ag on al! 
par~ies concerned. 

SECTIOS ll8. Claims of Exemption. 

Any person claiming to be legally exempt from the regulations set forth :in this 
Ordi:lance, or from the payment of a permit-fee, shall cite to-the Police Chief the statute o: 

otl:.er iegai authority under which exemption is claimed. and shall present the Police Chief 
procf of qualification for such exemption. 

SECTIOIS" 119. Violations and Penalty. 

(a) Violation of ai:y of the provisio.ts of this Ordinance shall be penalized, per 
occi.:.rre:r:ce, as follows: 

First offense: 

Second offense: 

$200 .00 fine 

Mandatory Court Appearance with fine not to exceed 
$500.00 or imprisoned not more than 30 days or both 
fined ar:d imprisoned in the discretion of the Court. 
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(b) :n addi:ion to any crimi:ial enforcement, the City or any individual may 
p:::sue any availab'.e civil remedies deemed appropria!e and necessa.")". 

SECTION 120. · Severability. 

The provisio:c.s of this Orci:1an.ce are declared to be severable. If any section. 
sente~ce, clause, or phrase of :he Ordinance shall for any reason be held to be invalid or 
~nconstitutiona! by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decisions shall not effect the 
validity of ~he ;e::nai:::ing sections, sentences, cla:ise, and ph:ases of this Ordinance, but 
they stall remai:I in effect; it being the legislative intent that this Ordi!!ance shall remain in 
effec: notwitl::standing the validity of a:iy part. 

SECTION 2. Ail ordinances or parts of ordinances in ccnfl...ict with th.is Ordi.nai.i.ce are 

he:eby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

· SECTION 3. This ordinance bei~g necessary for the public peace, health, comfort, 

cor:venience, morals, and welfare of the City of \Vhite Hall, an emergency is declared to exist and 

t!":is o:Cinance sha!: be i:i full force rui.J effect from the date of its adoption. 

PASSED A'Nl) APPROVED ON THIS I8n;DAYOF AUGUST, 2014 . 

. //_/~ 
Noel Fos+.er, Mayor 

A 1"IEST: 

~LJ~ 
El:en Welc::., City Clerk 
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